IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-238 Lower Tribunal No.: 16-2005-CF-010263-CXXX-MA

MICHAEL JAMES JACKSON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher J. Anderson, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0976385 2217 Florida Boulevard, Suite A Neptune Beach, FL 32266 (904) 246-4448 christopheranderson@clearwire.net Court-Appointed Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a trial Court order denying Appellant's Rule 3.851, Fla. R. Crim. P. Initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief in a death-penalty case. The motion is formally titled "Defendant's Amended Rule 3851 (e)(1) Initial Motion for Postconviction Relief" and appears at Volume 2, pages 225 through 277 of the Record on Appeal for *this* appeal. However, for ease of reading, that denied motion is referred to simply as the "subject motion." This appeal contains references to the record on appeal created for the subject post-conviction motion proceedings. They are designated by the letter "R" followed by the applicable record volume number, followed by the applicable record page numbers which are stamped at the bottom of each page of the record on appeal.

The appeal also contains references to the prior record of the original jury trial proceedings. They are designated by the letters "TR" followed by the applicable record volume number, followed by the clerk's record-on-appeal page numbers (bottom of page).

The Defendant Michael Jackson is referred to herein primarily as "Defendant," but sometimes also as "Appellant" and "Michael Jackson."

The trial Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the subject motion. R4, p481-547. That hearing is also referred to simply as the "evidentiary hearing" in

this brief. The trial Court order denying the subject motion (R2, p. 325 to 355), which is appealed here, is formally titled Order Denying Defendant's Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief. It is hereafter also referred to as simply the subject "denial Order."

On August 10, 2012, The trial Court conducted a hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) to determine which postconviction motion claims could be adjudicated solely on the existing evidence and which postconviction motion claims required the presentation of additional evidence. R2, p. 313-214; R4, p. 576-604. Such hearing is referred to as the "*Huff*" hearing in this brief.

Later, on November 4, 2011, the trial court conducted a different hearing at which such additional, needed evidence was presented. R3, p. 481-547. It is referred to as the "evidentiary hearing" in this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a death-penalty case. Defendant Michael Jackson remains incarcerated under a sentence of death at Death Row, Union Correctional Institution, Raiford, Florida for the 2005 murders of James and Carol Sumner. TR1, p. 3-5.

The basic facts of the subject kidnaping, robbery and first-degree murder case are set forth in this Court's direct appeal Opinion in Jackson v. State, 18 So.3d

1016 (Fla. 2009), as follows:

In July of 2005, Jackson and codefendants Tiffany Ann Cole, Bruce Kent Nixon, Jr., and Alan Lyndell Wade robbed, kidnaped, and murdered James and Carol Sumner.[fn1] The plan to rob and murder the Sumners evolved from knowledge Cole obtained about the couple from a prior relationship with them. Before moving to Florida, the Sumners had resided in South Carolina and Tiffany Cole became acquainted with them there. The Sumners had been neighbors of Cole's family and had sold Cole a vehicle.

Cole and Jackson were involved in a personal relationship and often traveled together. In June of 2005, this couple came to Florida to visit Alan Wade. During this visit, the Sumners allowed Cole and Jackson to stay with them in their Jacksonville home. During this initial visit, Jackson noticed that the couple was frail and would be easy victims. The Sumners were in their early sixties but in ill health which required a daily regimen of various prescription medications. Jackson informed Wade of the Sumners' financial position, which included \$90,000 from the sale of their South Carolina home and multiple television sets. Following the initial **PAGE 1021** visit, Jackson, Wade, and Cole began to develop a plan to rob the Sumners. Wade invited his best friend Bruce Nixon to join the scheme. At the time of the crimes, Wade and Nixon were eighteen years old, and Jackson and Cole were twenty-three years old.

Bruce Nixon testified at trial after entering into a plea agreement.[fn2] He stated that the foursome planned the robbery together but Jackson was in charge. Jackson informed the codefendants that he would "take care" of the Sumners by injecting them with a shot of medicine to cause their deaths. In preparation for the robbery, Nixon

stole several shovels to dig a hole and Cole rented a Mazda from a rental agency in South Carolina to transport the group. After arriving in Florida, the foursome secretly watched the house for several days as they developed a strategy for the logistics of the robbery. Several days before the murders, Nixon assisted Jackson and Wade in digging a six-foot-deep hole in a remote area of Georgia. The group left the shovels at that location when the excavation was completed. In further preparation for the attack, Jackson, Cole, and Wade purchased gloves, duct tape, and plastic wrap to be used in securing the victims. A "toy gun" was also obtained. Video surveillance captured the group entering and leaving the store where the items were purchased, and receipts for the purchases were found in the motel room where Jackson, Cole, and Wade were eventually apprehended.

On the evening of July 8, 2005, Nixon and Wade approached and knocked on the door of the Sumner residence. When Carol Sumner responded, Wade asked if he could use the telephone and Carol allowed Wade and Nixon to enter the house. Once inside, Wade ripped the telephone wire from the wall. The Sumners were held at "gunpoint" with the toy gun as Nixon and Wade bound them with the duct tape.

While Nixon and Wade entered the Sumner residence, Cole and Jackson remained outside in the rented Mazda because the Sumners knew and could identify them from their previous visit. As the crime unfolded, the foursome communicated with Nextel phones which operated as two-way handheld transceivers. After the men inside the residence informed Jackson through the Nextel phone that the Sumners were restrained, Jackson entered the home and began searching for bank statements and automated-teller-machine (ATM) cards. The

codefendants found and removed jewelry, a lockbox of rare coins, and documents which were in the house.

While Jackson searched the house, Nixon and Wade forced the Sumners to the garage where they ordered the victims to climb into the trunk of the Sumners' Lincoln Town Car. Nixon and Wade then drove the vehicle to a gas station and refueled as Jackson and Cole followed in the Mazda. The four then drove to the Georgia gravesite as the Sumners remained trapped in the trunk of the vehicle. The Lincoln was driven close to the hole which the group had previously prepared, while Cole remained with the Mazda at the edge of the road. When the codefendants opened the trunk, they discovered that the duct tape had released and the bindings were not secure. Jackson then ordered Nixon to tighten the bindings and Nixon complied. Nixon stated that Jackson had obtained the personal identification number for the ATM card of the victims which **PAGE 1022** Jackson verified through a telephone call to their bank.

The Sumners, still alive and bound, were placed in the deep hole. Jackson admitted that he heard Carol Sumner moan while she was in the hole. Nixon asserted that he walked away from the open grave and left Jackson and Wade to bury the victims.[fn3] Once the hole was filled with dirt, the group placed the shovels in the trunk of the Sumners' Lincoln and departed the Georgia site to return to Florida. After attempting to wipe the vehicle to remove any identifying information, the Lincoln was abandoned in Sanderson, Florida, which is located approximately twenty miles from the gravesite. The shovels used in the episode remained in the trunk.

The next stop for the group was an ATM in Jacksonville from which Jackson withdrew a large sum of money. After distributing the money among the codefendants, the group retired to a motel for the night. Later that evening, Wade and Cole returned to the Sumner residence to retrieve a computer which they later pawned.

The following day, Bruce Nixon separated from the group and returned to his home in Baker County, Florida. He attended a party there where he displayed a plastic bag filled with multicolored prescription medications. During the party, Nixon announced that he had buried people alive and killed them without expressly stating that he had been assisted by others.

On July 10, 2005, Carol Sumner's daughter reported to law enforcement that her parents were missing. The Jacksonville Sheriff's Office (JSO) responded to the Sumner residence the following day to investigate. The back door of the Sumner home was unlocked. Ingredients that appeared to be associated with preparation for a dinner were on the stove and dirty plates were in the kitchen. Carol's shoe and surgical boot were discovered which was unusual because these items were necessary for Carol to walk. That same day a JSO officer spotted a Lincoln Town Car in Sanderson. A subsequent analysis of items found in the Lincoln revealed Jackson's fingerprints on an unopened roll of plastic wrap.

As the JSO continued to investigate the disappearance of the Sumners, Jackson continued to withdraw money from the Sumner bank account. Between July 9 and July 13, 2005, approximately \$5,000 was removed from the bank account. Photo surveillance captured Jackson using the Sumner ATM card several times from July 9 to July 13. The rented Mazda could be seen in the background of some of the surveillance photos.

When Jackson began to have difficulty accessing the account, he contacted the bank purporting to be James

Sumner. The bank informed Jackson that the daily withdrawal limit for the account had been exceeded. Jackson then attempted to solicit assistance from the JSO in accessing the accounts. Continuing to pretend that he was James Sumner, Jackson explained to a member of the JSO that he had left town hurriedly with his wife to attend the funeral of her sister in Delaware. When the officer asked to speak to his wife, Tiffany Cole responded under the pretense of being a tired and ailing Carol Sumner.

The JSO detective suspected that he was not actually speaking to the Sumners. Accordingly, he contacted a United States Marshal to assist the JSO in tracking the PAGE 1023 cellular telephone used by the caller, who was later identified as Jackson. The cellular telephone had been used in the vicinity of the Sumner residence during the approximate time of the abduction. Using the rental car global positioning system, law enforcement determined that the Mazda was within blocks of the Sumner residence on the night of the murders. Based upon the ATM photos of the Mazda, South Carolina law enforcement were able to track Tiffany Cole to two motel rooms rented under her name in the Charleston, South Carolina, area.

On July 14, 2005, law enforcement found Jackson, Cole, and Wade at the motel. The police obtained a search warrant for the motel rooms. Upon receiving the entry code for the safe located in the motel room from the management, the police opened the safe and discovered identification, credit cards, a checkbook, and papers belonging to the Sumners. Some paperwork and mail were also in the motel room. A key ring that belonged to the Sumners was discovered in Wade's motel room. Law enforcement found and recovered the Sumner coin collection in the trunk of Cole's vehicle.

Cole, Jackson, and Wade were arrested. Jackson was interrogated by several detectives. Law enforcement discovered an ATM card in a trash can in the interrogation room which lacked an identifying personal name but had been issued by the Sumners' bank. Jackson informed the detectives that he had knowledge of the location of the Sumners but that Wade and Nixon were responsible for kidnaping and burying the victims. Jackson claimed that the ATM card belonged to Wade's mother and that Wade had convinced Jackson to make withdrawals from the account. Jackson admitted that he was at the gravesite and saw the Sumners placed in the hole while they were still alive.

Bruce Nixon was also arrested and revealed the burial location of the Sumners to law enforcement. On July 16, 2005, the bodies were discovered four miles north of the Florida-Georgia border in Charlton County, Georgia. The medical examiner testified that death was caused by mechanical obstruction of the airways by dirt. In essence, they were buried alive and asphyxiated from the dirt particles smothering their airway passages. Once the dirt covered their heads, they would have fallen unconscious and died within three to five minutes.

Items of mail addressed to the Sumners were recovered from the rented Mazda. Both the Lincoln and the Mazda contained sand particles on the seats and floorboards. At the gravesite, law enforcement recovered cigarette packs, shell casings, and empty beer cans.

Jackson testified in his defense that the plan was limited to robbing the Sumners and did not involve murder. He stated that Wade and Nixon went into the home while Jackson and Cole waited outside. Wade and Nixon then drove off in the Sumners' vehicle and Jackson followed.

At that point, Jackson asserted that he had no knowledge that the Sumners were bound and in the trunk. Jackson's version of the facts was that when they arrived in Georgia, Wade and Nixon directed Jackson and Cole where to park and asked Jackson to bring them a flashlight. Jackson thought they were abandoning the Lincoln but when he approached the codefendants he heard Carol Sumner moan. Jackson stated that he was surprised and questioned Wade and Nixon about their actions before returning to the Mazda where Cole waited. Jackson admitted that he impersonated James Sumner during telephone calls with the JSO. After deliberations, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. **PAGE** 1024

opportunities to present mitigation evidence but he declined to do so. Instead, defense counsel proffered the mitigation evidence already prepared. The trial court conducted a colloquy and consequently found that Jackson knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to present mitigation evidence and also that he had been well informed by counsel of the potential ramifications of this waiver. After deliberation, the jury recommended death sentences for the murders of both victims by votes of eight to four.

[fn1] Of the foursome, Jackson was tried first and subsequently convicted on all counts. Cole and Wade were also convicted and sentenced to death for the murders.

[fn2] Nixon pleaded guilty to lesser charges and received concurrent sentences of forty-five years' imprisonment on each count.

[fn3] The evidence conflicted as to which of the codefendants actually carried out the burial. Nixon implicated Wade and Jackson; however, Jackson contested his involvement and testified that either

Wade or Nixon effectuated the burial.

Following this direct-appeal decision, the Defendant filed his subject motion for post-conviction relief. R2, p. 225-277. It contained seven enumerated claims. However, Claim 3 was withdrawn prior to the final draft of the subject motion. R2, p. 225. Claims 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 are "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims.

Claim 7 challenged Florida's death-sentencing scheme pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) progeny case entitled Paul H. Evans vs. Walter A. McNeil, Case No. 09-14402-CIV-MARTINEZ, U.S. Specifically, on June 20, 2011 Judge Jose E. Martinez of District Court of the Southern District of Florida, Miami Division, entered an Order finding that portions of Florida's death-sentencing law not in compliance with the death-sentencing requirements of Ring.

Waiver of Guilt-Related Issues

On or about October 10, 2011, following this Florida Supreme Court's affirmation of Defendant's Judgment and Sentence of Death, the Defendant wrote the trial court judge a letter. R2, p. 281-282. In it, the Defendant told the trial court judge, ". . . I've asked my attorney Mr. Christopher Anderson to do the right thing and allow me to tell the truth. It is my hope he will not try to hinder that in

any way . . . As you are aware, I've dropped all guilt phase challenges, for I am indeed guilty . . . all I seek is to tell the truth and your mercy. . . I also wanted to write this letter and make you aware of my intentions because I fear that my attorney Mr. Anderson may somehow try to hinder me from doing what is right." R2, p. 281-282.

Thereafter, on or about October 20, 2011. the Defendant mailed the trial judge a second letter. The Defendant told the trial court judge, ". . . I've lied so much about everything. . ." and "I do hope to be able to tell the truth. . ." and added:

Secondly, my attorney Mr. Anderson seems to think that my agenda in seeking to tell the truth has something to do with "Religion." While yes, I have been saved, and yes, the conviction to tell the truth does stem from the Spirit and the desire to obey God, I assure that I will respect the law of your Courtroom and the State of Florida. I will keep all my testimony within the scope of the case. It is not my intention to go on any "rant," only to confess the truth."

The fifth page of the subject postconviction motion includes the following statement:

The Court and counsel may be surprised at the absence of issues relevant only to guilt-phase issues. The undersigned defense counsel advised Defendant to pursue both "guilt" and "penalty" issues. However, Defendant has chosen to accept his adjudications of guilt for the crimes charged and has instead instructed his undersigned

counsel not to raise issues or do things which are intended to challenge Defendant's adjudications of "guilty" for the crimes charged. Defendant *does* want his undersigned attorney to pursue the sentence-related issues presented in this motion.

It is also important to note that on August 16, 2011, the Defendant signed the subject motion which was drafted –as Defendant requested– without "guilt" issues. (R2, p. 258).

At the evidentiary hearing held on the subject postconviction motion, the Defendant bluntly informed the Court that he had lied to his trial counsel, falsely insisting that he was innocent of the subject murders throughout the jury trial proceedings. R3, p. 507. Defendant further testified under oath as follows at the evidentiary hearing on the subject postconviction motion:

First, I'd like to say that I am guilty for the crimes of first degree murder, kidnaping and robbery against Mr. And Mrs. Sumner. My reason for wanting to address the Court today is because of the many lies I told to everyone years ago at pretrial and then trial. I downplayed my involvement to look as if I were not guilty but the truth is that – the truth is that it was my idea to do this. Truly, I did not make anyone do anything. All were willing participants but I was, in fact, the leader. It was my idea to do it.

I lied to this Court all throughout my trial testimony, same to Mr. Mizrahi (prosecutor), to Mr. Kuritz (lead defense counsel) and Mr. Steinberg (second-chair defense counsel). Even more so I lied to the people who deserve the truth the most, the family of Mr. and Mrs. Sumner, and for that I am deeply sorry.

There are no words that I could ever offer that would convey the depth of my remorse or sorrow, but again, I say that I am truly sorry for what I have done and though I'm undeserving, I do ask forgiveness. My desire today is to reconcile the truth to the family of Mr. and Mrs. Sumner and to Your Honor, the attorneys and to the Court record. If necessary, I will answer any and all questions fully and truthfully. Thank you.

(R3, p. 538-539).

Defendant's two trial attorneys testified at the evidentiary hearing on the subject postconviction motion. Defendant's "lead" jury-trial defense attorney, Mr. Richard Kuritz, testified that the Defendant never admitted to being involved in the killing of the victims and insisted he was innocent of the killings. Mr. Richard Kuritz further explained that, as such, he regarded victim-outreach activities (which are explained more fully below) as so opposed to Defendant's proclamation of innocence that victim-outreach activities were never discussed. R3, p. 509-510. Defendant's second jury-trial defense attorney, Mr. Greg Steinberg, concurred, adding that Defendant's insistence that he did not participate in the killing of the victims ruled out the admission of guilt and apology which are essential elements of victim-outreach activity. R3, p. 526-527.

The Florida Rules of Professional Conduct govern the conduct of Florida attorneys. Such Rules impose upon Florida lawyers a duty to "zealously assert the

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