IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL JAMES JACKSON

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC12-238

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

plan was to hit the A.T.M., get as much money as possible. (TR Vol. X 1378).

Jackson denied, however, knowing that Wade or Nixon intended to kidnap and kill the Sumners. He denied any participation in pre-digging the grave. (TR Vol. XI 1406-1407). Jackson testified the only thing he participated in was the robbery and using the A.T.M. card after the murder. Jackson testified his plan was to call the police after hitting the ATMs, to ensure the police went to the Sumner home to untie them. (TR Vol. X 1378).

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that he did not find any of the questions or answers that Jackson challenges to be objectionable. Trial counsel told this court that in cases where the defense's credibility is at stake, as it was in this one, it is important to judiciously object before the jury in order to maintain credibility. Trial counsel did not see the need to object to these questions and answers which in his view did not harm his Moreover, counsel believed during Michael Jackson's testimony, Michael Jackson testified very well and was more holding his own during cross-Counsel believed that there examination. was no need to object to when Jackson was doing so well against Mr. Plotkin's cross-This court examination. finds trial counsel's testimony on this issue to be credible.

This court finds that even if counsel could have objected to some of the challenged questions and answers, this very experienced trial counsel's judicious objection strategy was a reasonable strategy in this case. Any reasonable counsel would have realized, especially in the face of the evidence pointing to Jackson's involvement in the robbery including his admissions to law enforcement officers and exclusive use of

the Sumners' ATM cards after the murders, that saving Jackson's life could very well hinge on the jury believing that Jackson did not actively participate in the kidnappings and murders. Accordingly, this court find counsel's failure to trial object questions that, in counsel's view, did not harmfully affect his trial strategy did not constitute deficient performance as forth in Strickland. See Wright v. State, 581 So.2d 882, 883 (Fla.1991) (holding that the ineffective assistance claim with regard to the failure to object had no merit, because this error was "strategic in nature and this Court will not second guess trial strategy employed by trial counsel"). FN

FN: Some of the testimony was clearly admissible. For instance, Bruce Nixon's testimony that Jackson was a dominant actor who planned the subject crimes, including the burial of the victims and who took and maintained sole possession of the victims' bank ATM card was relevant to Jackson's quilt the offenses charged. Likewise, the prosecutor's question to Nixon on re-direct, relevant to rebut trial counsel's vigorous attack on Nixon's credibility cross-examination durina as well Jackson's suggestion at trial that it was Wade and Nixon would "took over" the attack against the Sumners and turned a planned robbery into a kidnapping and murder. Counsel's failure to object to questions are not improper is not deficient performance. Rogers v. State, 957 So.2d 538, (Fla.2007) (explaining that trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to comments that are proper).

As to the prejudice prong, Jackson does not really explain, in his motion for post-conviction relief, how any of these questions and answers impacted the jury's findings of guilt or recommendation of death or the sentencing court's weighing of

aggravating and mitigating factors. Even so, for the most part, the questions and answers were fairly innocuous and did not go directly to the heart of the state's case against Jackson or Jackson's defense at Accordingly, Jackson failed to show there is a reasonable probability the jury would not have found him guilty of the crimes charged or recommended he receive a sentence had counsel objected. Certainly, Jackson has failed to show trial counsel's failure to object to any or all of these questions and answers undermine confidence in the outcome of the case. 990 So.2d 1017, 1025 Gonzalez v. State, (Fla. 2008).

(PCR Vol. II 345-348).

The collateral court committed no error. Jackson cannot show trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object, even if some of the prosecution's questions or the witnesses' answers were objectionable.

Some of the questions and answers were clearly relevant and admissible. For instance, Bruce Nixon's testimony that Jackson was a dominant actor who planned the subject crimes, including the burial of the victims and who took and maintained sole possession of the victims' bank ATM card was relevant to Jackson's guilt the offenses charged. Likewise, the prosecutor's question to Nixon on re-direct concerning control of the ATM car, was relevant to rebut trial counsel's attack on Nixon's credibility during cross-examination as well as Jackson's suggestion at trial that it was Wade and Nixon would "took over"

the attack against the Sumners and turned a planned robbery into a kidnapping and murder. As the collateral court found, trial counsel's failure to object to questions that are not improper is not deficient performance. Rogers v. State, 957 So.2d 538, 550 (Fla.2007) (explaining that trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to comments that are proper).

Other questions, even assuming they were objectionable, did nothing to hurt Jackson's theory of the case or were so innocuous as to do no harm. At trial, Jackson testified he participated in planning the robbery. Jackson told the jury that he and Tiffany Cole stayed at the Sumner home sometime prior to the murder. Afterward, he called Alan Wade and told him the Sumners had TV's and stuff at their home. (TR Vol. X 1367). A few weeks later, he and Cole hatched the plan to rob the Sumners. (TR Vol. X 1369-1370).

Jackson told the jury that he and Cole knew they could not go into the house because the Sumners knew them. They drafted Alan Wade to help. Jackson told Wade he could not do it alone. Bruce Nixon was brought in to help Wade. Jackson sat down with Cole, Wade and Nixon and talked about how to do the robbery. (TR Vol. X 1375). The plan was to rob the Sumners of their credit cards, A.T.M. cards and things of that nature. (TR Vol. X 1377). Jackson testified that Wade and Nixon were told to

subdue the Sumners and get their PINs. Jackson told Wade and Nixon not to leave any prints in the Sumners' home. (TR Vol. XI 1423). Jackson gave Wade and Nixon advice about how to do the robbery. (TR Vol. XI 1424).

Jackson told the jury that after the robbery, the plan was to hit the A.T.M., get as much money as possible, then call the police and tell them the Sumners' address. Jackson testified the phone call to the police would ensure the police went to the Sumner home to until them. (TR Vol. X 1378).

Jackson denied knowing that Wade or Nixon intended to kidnap and kill the Sumners. He denied any participation in pre-digging the grave. (TR Vol. XI 1406-1407). Jackson testified the only thing he participated in was the robbery and using the A.T.M. card after the murder.

Detective Rowan's testimony about the watch did not nothing to undermine Jackson's theory that he participated only in the robbery and use of the victims' ATM card. Moreover, the prosecutor's questions to Jackson during cross-examination were innocuous and relevant to Jackson's credibility and motive to lie.

The only testimony that arguably bears any scrutiny is Bruce Nixon's explanation as to what Jackson meant when Jackson told Nixon that taping the victim's eyes was a "mind game". (TR

- Vol. X 1235). The following testimony occurred during the State's re-direct examination of Bruce Nixon:
- Q. Something I think that was unclear. Were you taping the Sumner's eyes so they couldn't identify you later?
 - A. No sir, so they couldn't identify Michael.
- Q. Okay, tell the jury why Michael said he wanted their eyes taped even though the plan was to kill them. Tell the jury why he wanted their eyes taped.
 - A. He said it was a mind thing.
 - O. What does that mean?
 - A. Sir?
 - Q. What does that mean, a mind thing? Tell the jury?
- A. I guess he didn't want—he didn't want them to see him kill them, I guess.

(TR Vol. X 1235).

Certainly, trial counsel could have objected to Nixon's "guess" about Jackson' meaning when he told Nixon the taping of the victim's eyes was a "mind game." However, trial counsel explained his strategy concerning objections at the evidentiary hearing held on Jackson's motion for post-conviction relief. In counsel's view, the case against Michael Jackson came down to a credibility battle between Michael Jackson and the state's case. Counsel believed that the judicious use of objections assisted in maintaining his, and Jackson's, credibility with the jury.

See Brown v. State, 846 So.2d 1114, 1122 (Fla. 2003) (affirming the collateral court's denial of a claim of ineffective

assistance of counsel premised on a failure to object when the trial counsel testified that part of his style is being judicious with his objections in order to avoid antagonizing the jury and losing credibility).

Even if this Court were to find there was no strategic reason for failing to object, Jackson suffered no or only slight harm from Nixon's "guess." Accordingly, Jackson cannot meet Strickland's prejudice prong.

In his initial brief, Jackson makes no attempt to point to any specific prejudice caused by Nixon's guess about Jackson's use of the term "mind game." For instance, Jackson makes no attempt to show that without Nixon's guess, the State could not have proven an element of any of the crimes charged. Jackson also makes no showing that without Nixon's "guess" the State could not have established one or more of the eight aggravators proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Instead of attempting to actually show how Nixon's testimony undermines confidence in the outcome of his capital case, Jackson simply makes a conclusory allegation that the testimony "changed the tenor of Defendant's trial and distracted Defendant's jurors from their responsibilities as neutral finders of fact." (IB 47). conclusory statements do not establish Strickland's prejudice prong. This Court should affirm the collateral court's denial of this claim.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE COLLATERAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING JACKSON'S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE

In Florida, victim impact evidence is admissible. Under section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (2009), the State may introduce victim impact evidence, subject to the following statutory parameters:

Victim impact evidence.—Once the prosecution has provided evidence of the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances as described in subsection (5), the prosecution may introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence to the jury. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as part of victim impact evidence.

In this claim, Jackson alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object when Mr. Revis Sumner, Reggie Sumner's brother, testified during the penalty phase that:

...Losing them (victims James and Carol Sumner) has been very difficult for the family and it's been hard for me because Reggie was not only my brother, he was my best friend. I feel this part of me is this part of me is missing because we were so close. After a time the tears stop flowing, but the pain of losing Reggie and Carol will never go away.

(TR Vol. XIII 1639).

Jackson raised this claim in his motion for post-conviction relief. (PCR Vol. I 124-128). The collateral court denied the claim. The collateral court, citing to this Court's decisions in Gonzalez v. State, 990 So.2d 1017 (Fla. 2008), Wheeler v. State, 4 So.3d 599, 608 (Fla. 2005) and Abdool v. State, 53 So.3d 208 (Fla. 2010), found that Mr. Sumner's testimony did not stray from permissible victim impact evidence. In particular, the collateral court found that Mr. Sumner's testimony did not include characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, or an appropriate sentence. The collateral court found that, instead, Mr. Sumner's testimony simply described his relationship with his brother and the resulting impact of Reggie and Carol Sumner's deaths on him personally. (PCR Vol. II 319-323).

The collateral court was correct. Victim impact evidence is permissible when offered to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness and the loss to the community caused by the victim's death. Kormondy v. State, 845 So.2d 41, 54 (Fla.2003). A loss to a family member is both a loss to community of the family and a loss to the community outside the family. A family member's emotions resulting from the loss of the victim, including feelings of pain, anger, or fear, are directly related to the family's affection for the victim and the impact caused by his or her death. Accordingly, testimony which explains the

emotional pain caused by the death of a family member, on the family as a whole and on individual members within the family, is permissible victim impact evidence. See Abdool v. State, 53 So.3d 208, 222 (Fla.2010).

Examination of Revis Sumner's testimony shows that Mr. Sumner's testimony did not constitute impermissible victim impact evidence. Mr. Sumner did not comment on the shocking, consciousless, and vile nature of the murders. Nor did Mr. Sumner comment on Michael Jackson's depravity, iniquity, and complete lack of a moral compass. Finally, Mr. Sumner did not ask the jury to sentence Mr. Jackson to death or offer an opinion on an appropriate sentence. Instead, Mr. Sumner told the jury about the emotional impact the loss of Reggie and Carol Sumner had on both him and his family. This the law allows.

Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to object to testimony this is not objectionable. <u>Mungin v. State</u>, 932 So.2d 986, 997 (Fla. 2006). This Court should deny this claim.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE COLLATERAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING JACKSON'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR

In this claim, Jackson raises a claim of cumulative error. Jackson raised this claim in his motion for post-conviction relief. (PCR Vol. I 128-130). The collateral court denied the

motion. The collateral court found no error and, as such, no cumulative error. (PCR Vol. II 322-323).

The collateral court was correct. Where there is no error, there can be no cumulative error. Atwater v. State, 788 So.2d 223, 238 (Fla. 2001) (where no errors occurred, cumulative error claim is without merit); Downs v. State, 740 So.2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (finding that where allegations of individual error are found without merit, a cumulative error argument based thereon must also fail); Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So.2d 263, 267 (Fla. 1996) (no cumulative error where all issues which were not barred were meritless).

Jackson failed to show that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective. Jackson also failed to show his convictions and sentences to death violated the dictates of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.s. 584 (2002). Because there was no error, there can be no cumulative error. Bradley v. State, 33 So.3d 664, 684 (Fla.2010) (where the alleged errors are meritless, procedurally barred, or do not meet the Strickland standard for ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction claim of cumulative error is also without merit).

ISSUE VII

WHETHER JACKSON'S SENTENCES TO DEATH ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL PURSUANT TO RING V. ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002)

In this claim, Jackson avers his death sentence is unconstitutional pursuant to <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.s. 584 (2002). Jackson raised this claim in his motion for post-conviction relief. The collateral court denied the claim as procedurally barred and without merit. (PCR Vol. II 323-324).

Jackson implicitly acknowledges this Court has rejected the same claim he raises here but invites this Court to reconsider. This Court should decline the invitation. This is so for two reasons.

First, the claim is procedurally barred. Jackson already raised this claim on direct appeal from his convictions and sentence to death. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 18 So.3d 1016, 1025 n.6 (Fla. 2009). Accordingly, the claim is procedurally barred in post-conviction proceedings. <u>Finney v. State</u>, 831 So.2d 651, 657 (Fla. 2002) (claims are barred in post-conviction proceedings when they were raised and rejected on direct appeal).

Second, it is without merit. In this case, Jackson had previously been convicted of a prior violent felony; the contemporaneous murder of the other victim. Jackson was also convicted of kidnapping by a 12 person jury, unanimously, beyond a reasonable doubt and the trial judge found, in aggravation,

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